FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
1/6/2022 3:31 PM
NO. 100609-8

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/12/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 37662-1-III; Cons. No. 37689-3-III)

In the Matter of Confidential Consumer Protection Investigation

KING FUJI RANCH, INC., KING FUJI RANCH, MT TRAGGARES, INC. DBA ARETE VINEYARDS BENCH ONE, INC., KING ORGANICS, INC.

Petitioners,

VS.

WASHINGTON STATE OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Respondent.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

1. INTRODUCTION

The Attorney General (AG) served a Civil Investigative Demand (CID) on King Fuji. The stated purpose was to investigate possible "representations or omissions to obtain certification that there are insufficient U.S. workers for particular crop production and harvest in the area and [obtain] permission to hire foreign guest workers."

Only the U.S. Department of Labor has the authority to grant such certification and permission under the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA). When King Fuji asserted the matter was preempted and it was not the role of the AG to enforce the federal Act, the AG argued the purpose of the CID was not what was written in the CID and it changed the purpose and focus of the investigation several times to evade preemption. In all variations of the explanation, the AG stated that the representations, misrepresentations, or omissions it seeks to investigate were "made within the context of obtaining certification... to obtain permission to hire foreign gust workers

under the H-2A program." Despite the changing justifications, the AG never amended the CID.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion did not address whether the CID is preempted as written, instead, the Court addressed whether the AG's subjective intent was preempted. The Court of Appeals inappropriately accepted the AG's claim that the purpose of the CID was something other than the purpose explicitly stated in the CID. Statements and arguments of counsel are not evidence, and the subjective intent of a party cannot vary the terms of a written document. Even if the Court were to accept the AG's varying explanations, the CID is still preempted by the INA.

This is a case of first impression which addresses the constitutional limitations on the authority of the Washington Attorney General.

2. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioners are the Appellants, King Fuji Ranch, Inc., King Fuji Ranch, ML Taggares, Inc. dba Arete Vineyards, Bench One, Inc., and King Organics, Inc. (collectively King Fuji).

3. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In re Confidential Consumer Protection Investigation,
King Fuji, et. al. v Washington Office of the Attorney General,
No. 37663-I-III, 2021 WL 5813794 (December 7, 2021).

4. ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW

- 1. Is the Attorney General's attempt to investigate statements made for the purpose of obtaining certification and permission to hire foreign guest workers preempted by the Immigration and Nationality Act?
- 2. Is it proper for a court to allow the Attorney General to vary the stated written purpose of a Civil Investigative Demand?
- 3. If the Attorney General is permitted to vary the stated written purpose of the Civil Investigative Demand through

argument, is the investigation of alleged false and misleading statements to domestic workers preempted by the INA because such statements are required to be referred to the United States Department of Justice?

- 4. Did the Attorney General violate Article 1 Section 7 of the Washington Constitution by issuing a civil investigative demand that lacked "authority of law"?
- 5. Did the Civil Investigative Demand violate the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution because the inquiry was not within the scope of the authority of the Attorney General, the demand was too indefinite, and the information sought was not reasonably relevant?

5. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Attorney General determined that it would investigate King Fuji's application to the federal government to obtain foreign guest workers under the H-2A program. The CID stated the AG would investigate:

unfair or deceptive representations or omissions to obtain certification that there are insufficient U.S.

workers for particular crop production and harvest in the area in order to obtain permission to hire foreign guestworkers under the H-2A program. (CP 00016)¹

On September 19, 2019, the AG filed a Petition in Thurston County Superior Court to Prohibit Disclosure of the CID and a Motion to Seal the Court File, so the file is "not made accessible to the public." (CP 00006) and requested the Thurston County court retain jurisdiction (CP 00006). The AG obtained *ex-parte* orders from the Thurston County Superior Court (1) prohibiting disclosure of the Civil Investigative Demand (CP 00078), (2) retaining jurisdiction (CP 00078), and (3) sealing the file (CP 00080). The AG was aware King Fuji did not have offices or do business in Thurston County. The AG did not ask the court to authorize the CID to be issued.

A CID dated September 23, 2019, copies of the Thurston County Orders, and a letter from the AG (CP 0204) were served

¹ CP references Clerk's Papers in case number 376621. CP1 references Clerk's Papers in case number 376893.

on King Fuji at its offices in Richland, Washington. (CP 0083).

The CID had not been authorized be a judge.

In response to the CID, and as authorized by RCW 19.86.110(8), King Fuji filed a Petition to Set Aside or Modify the CID in Grant County Superior Court on October 11, 2019 (CP1 0001). The Petition was amended on October 21, 2019 (CP1 00060).

On December 4, 2019, King Fuji filed motions in Thurston Superior Court to vacate the ex-parte orders (CP 0121). King Fuji had previously filed a motion to change venue (CP 0096) and release the sealed court records to counsel (CP 00113). The AG opposed those motions asserting King Fuji violated the non-disclosure order by filing the statutorily authorized Petition to Set Aside in Grant County. (CP 00156). The court ordered venue to be transferred to Grant County but did not rule on the other King Fuji motions, passing the decision to the Grant County judge. (CP 00002).

On March 10, 2020, the Grant County Superior Court held a hearing on King Fuji's motions. The AG opposed those motions and simultaneously motioned to uphold and enforce the *ex-parte* Thurston County orders. (CP 00363). The judge vacated the order sealing the file and prohibiting disclosure. (CP 00429).

Argument was held on the King Fuji's Petition to Vacate and the AG's Motion to Enforce the CID on June 12, 2020. The judge denied King Fuji's Motion to Vacate (CP1 00071) and granted the AG's Petition to Enforce. (CP 00430).

King Fuji timely appealed. (CP 00434) and (CP1 00153). The cases were consolidated. On December 7, 2021, Division III of the Court of Appeals issued an opinion upholding the trial court's order enforcing the CID.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the AG initially represented to the Thurston County Superior Court that it believed King Fuji may be abusing the H-2A program and broadly identified the false representations King Fuji allegedly made to federal and state agencies. *In re Confidential Consumer*

Protection Act Investigation. King Fuji et. al. v. Washington State Office of the Attorney General, 2021 WL 5813794, at *4 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 7, 2021). However, the Court of Appeals accepted that AG's argument that "it is interested in misrepresentations made to U.S. farmworkers" and discounted the explicit language of the CID and that the alleged misrepresentations were made in the context of "obtain[ing] certification that there are insufficient U.S. workers for particular crop production and harvest in the area in order to obtain permission to hire foreign guestworkers under the H-2A program." Id. (internal quotations omitted); CP 00016. Based on this characterization of the purpose of the CID, the Court of Appeals held that the CID is not preempted.

Regulating the federal H-2A program is not within the AG's authority. Even if the AG's characterization of the CID is accepted, the AG seeks to investigate alleged preferential treatment of alien workers. The authority to investigate such conduct was specifically delegated by Congress to the U.S. DOL.

8 U.S.C. 1188(a)(1); Overdevest Nurseries, L.P. v. Scalia, 454 F.Supp.3d 46, 56-57 (D.D.C. 2020), aff'd sub nom. Overdevest Nurseries, L.P. v. Walsh, 2 F.4th 977 (D.C. Cir. 2021).

6. ARGUMENT

a. The Standard for Accepting a Petition for Review

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court:

. . .

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' ruling is contrary to law, involves a significant question of law under the United States Constitution, and involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not just affect King Fuji or this lawsuit. The decision implicates all private individuals and business owners in this State, and begs the question: is there a limit to the AG's investigative authority under the Consumer Protection Act, or can the AG simply change the stated purpose of a Civil Investigative Demand after it is issued?

b. The Immigration and Nationality Act Preempts the Attorney General's Use of a Civil Investigative Demand to Investigate Matters of Federal Concern.

The Constitution vests the federal government with "broad, undoubted power over the subject of immigration and the status of aliens." *Arizona v. United States*, 567 U.S. 387, 394 (2012) (*citing* U.S. Const. Art. I § 8 Cl. 4); *Chirac v. Chirac*, 15 U.S. 259, 268, 2 Wheat. 259 (1817) ("The power of naturalization is exclusively in Congress does not seem to be, and ought not to be controverted").

Under that power, in 1952 Congress enacted the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA) 8 U.S.C. § 1101 et seq.

which "set the terms and conditions of admission to the country and subsequent treatment of aliens lawfully in the country." *Chamber of Commerce of U.S. v. Whiting*, 563 U.S. 582, 587 (2011). Congress amended the INA with the Immigration Reform Control Act of 1986 to permit employers to hire temporary non-immigrant agricultural workers (H-2A workers).² This provides the exclusive mechanism to obtain and use the services of these workers. (The process established by statute and regulation is attached as Appx 1).

State laws that "interfere with or are contrary to" the Constitution or federal law are invalid under the Supremacy Clause. Article VI of the U.S. Constitution dictates that federal law is "the supreme law of the land." "Federal regulations possess an equally preemptive effect as federal statutes." *Goodwin v. Bacon*, 127 Wn.2d 50, 57 (1995).

² A non-immigrant worker (alien) is one "having a residence in a foreign country which he has no intention of abandoning who is coming to the United States to perform agricultural labor or services" 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(H)(ii)(A).

"The constitutional principles of pre-emption... are designed with a common end in view: to avoid conflicting regulation of conduct by various official bodies which might have some authority over the subject matter." *Amalgamated Assn. of St. Employees v. Lockridge*, 403 U.S. 274, 285-86 (1971).

"Policing fraud against federal agencies is hardly a 'field which the States have traditionally occupied." *Buckman Co. v. Plaintiffs' Legal Committee*, 531 U.S. 341, 347 (2001). To the contrary, the relationship between a federal agency and what it regulates is inherently federal in character because the relationship originates from, is governed by and according to, federal law and regulations.

Under the Preemption Doctrine, federal law preempts state law if:

1. The federal law contains an express preemption clause.

Arizona, 567 U.S. at 399.

- 2. The federal law impliedly preempts state law. *Arizona*, 567 U.S. 400-408.
- 3. The federal regulatory scheme is so pervasive as to "occupy the field" in an area of law. *Glade v. Nat'l Solid Waste Mgmt. Assn.*, 505 U.S. 88, 98 (1992).
- 4. The state law is an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution to the full purposes and objectives of Congress. *Arizona*, 567 U.S. at 406.
- 5. The conduct is "arguably prohibited or protected" by the Act. San Diego Bld. Trades Council v. Garmon, 359 U.S. 236, 244 (1959).

See also: All Pure Chemical v. White, 127 Wn.2d 1,6 (1995).

c. The INA Expressly Preempts the CID.

When analyzing an express-preemption provision, courts "focus on the plain wording of the" statute, "which necessarily contains the best evidence of Congress' preemptive intent." *Whitling*, 563 U.S. at 594. Congress' intent may be "explicitly stated in the statute's language or implicitly contained in its

structure and purpose." *Jones v. Rath Packing Co.*, 430 U.S. 519, 525 (1977).

The plain, clear, and express language of 8 U.S.C. § 1188 governs qualifications for admission of H-2A workers and treatment, and evidences Congress' clear preemptive intent. The statute provides:

The provisions of subsections (a) and (c) of section 1184 of this title and the provisions of this section preempt any state or local law regarding the admissibility of non-immigrant workers.

8 U.S.C. § 1184, which governs the petition of an employer for the admission of nonimmigrants, provides:

- (c)(1) The question of importing any alien as a nonimmigrant under subparagraph . . . in any specific case or specific cases shall be determined by the Attorney General, ...
- (2)(A) The Attorney General shall provide for a procedure [for employers to petition for nonimmigrant workers] ...
- (C) The Attorney General shall provide a process for reviewing and acting upon petitions under this subsection ...

[and]

(14)(A) If the Secretary of Homeland Security finds, after notice and an opportunity for a hearing, a substantial failure to meet any of the conditions of the petition to admit or otherwise provide status to a nonimmigrant worker under section 1101(a)(15)(H)(ii)(b) of this title or a willful misrepresentation of a material fact in such petition—[the Secretary may impose administrative remedies or deny petitions].

8 U.S.C. § 1184(c).

8 U.S.C. § 1184(c)(14)(A)-(D) prescribes the penalties for "willful misrepresentation of a material fact" and preempts state law.

The regulations address the exclusive means to report, investigate, and resolve what the AG seeks to investigate under the guise of the CPA. The regulations have the same preemptive effect as the statute. *Goodwin*, 127, Wn.2d at 57.

It does not matter whether the alleged false and misleading statements were made to the USDOL, SWA (ESD), or domestic workers the INA regulations' dictate the exclusive method to address the allegations. If the allegations involve "fraud or

misrepresentations" the complaint "must" be referred to the SWA (ESD) which "must" refer it to the USDOL for "appropriate handling and resolution". 20 C.F.R. § 655.185(a). If the allegations involve unfair or deceptive representations to U.S. workers, the same regulations apply with the addition that if such statements to U.S. workers "discouraged an eligible U.S. worker from applying . . . or otherwise discriminated against an eligible U.S. worker the complaint 'must' be referred to the USDOJ." 20 C.F.R. 655.185(b).

The regulations do not contemplate or authorize the state to conduct investigations into the allegations. There is no private right of action under the INA, including actions brought by states. *Chavez v. Freshpict Foods*, 456 F.2d 890, 893 (10th Cir. 1972); *Nieto-Santos v. Fletcher Farms*, 743 F.2d 638, 641 (9th Cir. 1984). The plain reading of the text of the regulation requires the state to refer allegations to the USDOL and USDOJ.

The AG acknowledged that any alleged false or misleading statements made by King Fuji were made to comply

with 8 U.S.C. 1188(a)(1) and 20 CFR 655.100. Attorney General's Response Brief, at 5. However, the Court of Appeals accepted the AG's argument that, "The State is not investigating King Fuji's compliance with the requirements of the H-2A program: it is investigating King Fuji's unfair and deceptive practices toward U.S. workers and the state labor market." Id. at 10. The AG contended (and the Court of Appeals accepted) that the AG is investigating purported preferential treatment of alien workers.

However, the AG does not have the authority to investigate statements made as part of an application to hire workers under the H-2A guest worker program, or preferential treatment of alien workers. The INA provides a comprehensive and exclusive means for investigating the very conduct the AG intends to investigate.

"There is no doubt that Congress may withdraw specified powers from the States by enacting a statute containing an express preemption provision." *Arizona*, 567 U.S. at 399. In

addition, Congress may preclude states from regulating conduct in an entire field, and the "intent to displace state law altogether can be inferred from a framework of regulation 'so pervasive ... that Congress left no room for the States to supplement it' or where there is a 'federal interest ... so dominant that the federal system will be assumed to preclude enforcement of state laws on the same subject." *Id.* (*quoting Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp.*, 331 U.S. 218, 230 (1947)).

Congress indicated that 8 U.S.C. 1188(a) & (c) preempt state law: "The provisions of subsections (a) and (c) of section 1184 of this title and the provisions of this section [8 U.S.C. 1188] preempt any state or local law regarding the admissibility of non-immigrant workers." 8 U.S.C. 1188(h)(2).³ As recognized by the D.C. Circuit,

The clear intent of this provision [8 U.S.C. 1188(a)(1)] is to protect American workers from the deleterious effects the employment of foreign labor might have on domestic wages and working

³ 8 U.S.C. 1184(c)(14)(A)-(D) prescribes the penalties for "willful misrepresentation of a material fact."

conditions. Congress was concerned about (1) the American workers who would otherwise perform the labor that might be given to foreign workers, and (2) American workers in similar employment whose wages and working conditions could be adversely affected by the employment of foreign laborers.

Mendoza v. Perez, 754 F.3d 1002, 1017 (D.C. Cir. 2014). Thus, Congress enacted 8 U.S.C. 1188(a)(1) to address the very dangers the AG contends that it has the authority to investigate, and explicitly preempted state or local law regarding the same.

With this intent to protect American workers, Congress explicitly delegated to the U.S. DOL the authority "to implement that mission through the creation of specific substantive provisions" and to determine "how to ensure that the importation of farmworkers met the statutory requirements." *Overdevest Nurseries, L.P.*, 454 F.Supp.3d at 56-57, *aff'd sub nom. Overdevest Nurseries, L.P. v. Walsh*, 2 F.4th 977 (D.C. Cir. 2021). Congress delegated to the U.S. DOL the authority to determine how to ensure that the importation of H-2A workers "will not adversely affect" U.S. workers. Accordingly, Congress

delegated to the U.S. DOL the authority to determine how to protect the persons the AG contends that King Fuji harmed.

Pursuant to this authority, the U.S. DOL implemented 20 C.F.R. 655.122, which specifically prohibits "preferential treatment of aliens." Within the same Subpart, the U.S. DOL codified the methods for complaints and addressing such complaints, which require that complaints involving allegations of fraud or misrepresentations "must be referred" by the SWA to the Office of Foreign Labor Certification, and "complaints alleging that an employer discouraged an eligible U.S. worker from applying, failed to hire, discharged, or otherwise discriminated against an eligible U.S. worker, or discovered violations involving the same" will be referred to the US DOJ. 20 C.F.R. 655.185.

If the Court accepts the AG's characterization of the changes purpose of the CID at face value, the CID is still preempted. 8 U.S.C. 1188(a)(1) explicitly preempts state law regarding the admissibility of non-immigrant workers (pursuant

to 8 U.S.C. 1188(h)(2)). Congress enacted 8 U.S.C. 1188(a)(1) to protect U.S. workers, specifically granted the authority to adopt regulations to carry this purpose to the U.S. DOL, and the U.S. DOL has enacted a comprehensive scheme pursuant to that authority.

Thus, the AG's use of a CID under the CPA is expressly preempted.

d. Congress Intended to Occupy the Field.

Even without an express preemption provision, state law must yield to a congressional Act if Congress intends to "occupy the field." *California v. ARC Am. Corp*, 490 U.S. 93, 100 (1989). Field preemption occurs where Congress' "framework of regulation [is] 'so pervasive . . . that Congress left no room for states to supplement it" or "where a 'federal interest is so dominant that the federal system will be assumed to preclude enforcement of state laws on the same subject." *Arizona*, 567 U.S. at 399 (*quoting Rice.*, 331 U.S. at 230) "Where Congress occupies an entire field . . . even complimentary state regulation

is impermissible." *Id.* at 401. This is because the local law "stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress" in enacting the INA. *Himes v. Davidowitz*, 312 U.S. 52, 67 (1941). "Field preemption reflects a Congressional decision to foreclose any state regulation in the area even if it is parallel to federal standards." *Id.* Even state regulation designed to protect vital state interests must give way to paramount federal legislation. *DeCanas v. BICA*, 424 U.S, 351, 357 (1976).

The INA statute and regulations provide a comprehensive and exclusive procedure for entry of non-immigrant H-2A workers, a procedure that involves federal investigation, and penalties for violations. An employer seeking H-2A workers making a false statement or concealing material facts are subject to civil and criminal penalties. 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(1-3); 18 U.S.C. § 1546(A) [fines and penalties]; 20 C.F.R. § 655.181(b)(3) [revocation of certification]; 20 C.F.R. § 655.182(a) [debarment]. The USDOL and U.S. DOJ, Civil

Rights Division, investigate and enforce the requirements of the INA—not the Washington Attorney General. C.F.R. § 655.185.

Congress intended that there be a uniform interpretation of the INA administered by the federal government. To achieve this objective, the USDOL, and USDOJ investigate and act when there are allegations of fraud, misrepresentations, or omissions. To allow the AG, to inquire and enforce the requirements of the INA would interfere with the exclusive federal scheme and create multiple interpretations and applications of the requirements of an Act which is exclusively within the province of the federal government. *See Kahn v. INS*, 36 F.3d 1412, 1414-15 (9th Cir. 1994) (interpretations of the INA that vary according to the forum are not permissible).

e. The AG's CID Undermines the Uniform Interpretation of the INA.

The Ninth Circuit has "repeatedly recognized that immigration laws should be applied uniformly across the country

without regard to the nuances of state law." Ye v. INS, 214 F.3d 1128, 1132 (9th Cir. 2000).

The INA was designed to implement a uniform federal policy and the meaning of concepts important to its application are not to be determined according to the law of the forum, but rather require a uniform federal definition.

Kahn, 36 F.3d at 1414.

Interpretations of the INA that vary according to forum or state law are not permissible. *Id.* at 1414-15. The Washington Supreme Court recognized:

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