# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/10/2022 4:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100609-8

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 37662-1-III (Consolidated with No. 37689-3-III)

# IN THE MATTER OF CONFIDENTIAL CONSUMER PROTECTION INVESTIGATION

KING FUJI RANCH, INC., KING FUJI RANCH, ML TAGGARES, INC. DBA ARETE VINEYARDS, BENCH ONE, INC., KING ORGANICS, INC.,

Petitioners,

v.

#### WASHINGTON STATE OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

There is no reason for the Court to accept review of this matter. As relevant here:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court *only*:...(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4) (emphasis added). King Fuji claims these factors support review here. They do not. Instead, King Fuji's petition is simply an attempt to re-litigate before this Court the same arguments that were properly disposed of below in accordance with well-settled law.

# A. There Is No Significant Question of Law Under the United States Constitution

# 1. The Court of Appeals Applied Well-Settled Preemption Law and Analysis

In affirming the trial court's decision to enforce the CID, the Court of Appeals applied well-established case law and standard preemption analysis in concluding that the Attorney General's "authority to issue the CID is not preempted by federal law" under any theory of preemption. Slip Op. at 11-17 (citing *Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 78, 896 P.2d 682 (1995) (quoting *Maryland v. Louisiana*, 451 U.S. 725, 746, 101 S. Ct. 2114, 68 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1981) and *Cipollone v. Liggett Grp., Inc.*, 505 U.S. 504, 516, 112 S. Ct. 2608, 120 L. Ed. 2d 407 (1992))).

There are three types of preemption:

(1) express preemption – where Congress explicitly defines the extent to which its enactments preempt state law; (2) field preemption – where state law attempts to regulate conduct in a field that Congress intended the federal law exclusively to occupy; and (3) conflict preemption – where it is impossible to comply with both state and federal requirements, or where state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.

Williamson v. Gen. Dynamics Corp., 208 F.3d 1144, 1149 (9th Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also Kansas v. Garcia, \_\_\_U.S.\_\_\_, 140 S. Ct. 791, 801, 206 L. Ed. 2d 146 (2020) (confirming three types of preemption).

Regardless of the type of preemption analysis, "[c]onsideration of issues arising under the Supremacy Clause start[s] with the assumption that the historic police powers of the states [are] not to be superseded by . . . Federal Act unless that [is] the clear and manifest purpose of Congress." *Cipollone*, 505 U.S. at 516 (internal quotation marks omitted) (internal citations omitted); *see also Altria Grp., Inc. v. Good*, 555 U.S. 70, 78 (2008); *see also New York Tel. Co. v. New York State Dept. of* 

Labor, 440 U.S. 519, 540, 99 S. Ct. 1328, 59 L. Ed. 2d 553 (1979) ("in the absence of compelling congressional direction," courts will not infer that "Congress ha[s] deprived the States of the power to act"). This is especially true when the state law at issue involves a state's traditional police power, as it does here. State v. LG Elec., Inc., 186 Wn.2d 1, 15, 375 P.3d 636 (2016) (enforcement of CPA "is well within the State's police power"). In such cases, courts "start[] with the assumption that the historic police power of the States [are] not to be superseded by . . . Federal Act unless that [is] the clear and manifest purpose of Congress." Cipollone, 505 U.S. at 516 (citation omitted).

Regardless of the type of preemption—whether express, field, or conflict—there is a strong presumption against preemption, and congressional intent to preempt state law must be clear and manifest. *Arizona v. United States*, 567 U.S. 387, 400, 132 S. Ct. 2492, 183 L. Ed. 2d 351 (2012); *Hickey v. Voxernet, LLC*, 887 F. Supp. 2d 1125, 1130 (W.D. Wash. 2012) ("Consumer protection is an area of traditional state authority

creating a presumption against federal preemption."). "Parties seeking to invalidate a state law based on preemption 'bear the considerable burden of overcoming the starting presumption that Congress does not intend to supplant state law." *Stengel v. Medtronic, Inc.*, 704 F.3d 1224, 1227 (9th Cir. 2013) (en banc) (quoting *De Buono v. NYSA-ILA Med. & Clinical Servs. Fund*, 520 U.S. 806, 814, 117 S. Ct. 1747, 138 L. Ed. 2d 21 (1997)). The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that King Fuji did not overcome this strong presumption against preemption of the Attorney General's authority under the CPA, and properly deemed each of its three preemption arguments without merit.

First, the Court of Appeals rightly concluded there was no express preemption where the only preemption provision King Fuji pointed to "preempt[s] any State or local law regulating admissibility of nonimmigrant workers," 8 U.S.C. § 1188(h)(2), and neither the CPA nor its CID provision has anything to do with the admissibility of nonimmigrant workers. Compare Slip Op. at 12-14 with Chamber of Com. of the United States v.

Whiting, 563 U.S. 582, 594, 131 S. Ct. 1968, 179 L. Ed. 2d 1031 (2011) (when a federal law contains an express preemption clause, courts "focus on the plain wording of the clause, which necessarily contains the best evidence" of the scope of Congress' pre-emptive intent"); Altria, 555 U.S. at 77 (citations omitted) (even "when the text of a pre-emption clause is susceptible of more than one plausible reading, courts ordinarily 'accept the reading that disfavors pre-emption"). Since the CPA in no way regulates which nonimmigrant workers may enter the United States, the Court of Appeals correctly held that 8 U.S.C. § 1184 "[p]lainly" does not preempt the CPA. Slip Op. at 13.6

Second, the Court of Appeals correctly determined there was no field preemption where the only field King Fuji claimed Congress intended to occupy, to the exclusion of state laws, is the field of immigration regulation under the Immigration and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Neither do 20 C.F.R. § 655.185(a) or (b)—which do not even contain a preemption clause—give rise to express preemption. *See* Petition for Review at 15-16; Slip. Op. at 13.

Nationality Act. But the Attorney General seeks to enforce the CPA and investigate possible unfair and deceptive statements to U.S. farmworkers about job opportunities, not to enforce the Immigration and Nationality Act or prosecute alleged fraud on the federal government. Compare Slip Op. 14-16 with Hillsborough Cnty. v. Automated Med. Lab'y, Inc., 471 U.S. 707, 713, 105 S. Ct. 2371, 85 L. Ed. 2d 714 (1985) (congressional intent to "pre-empt all state law in a particular area" will only be found "where the scheme of federal regulation is sufficiently comprehensive to make reasonable the inference that Congress 'left no room' for supplementary state regulation"). Simply put, it is not enough for field preemption that the State's CID asks questions related to King Fuji's use of the H-2A program. See Puente Arizona v. Arpaio, 821 F.3d 1098, 1104 (9th Cir. 2016) (no field preemption just because state regulation may have "effects in the area of immigration"). It is the state law *implications* of King Fuji's conduct that the Attorney General is investigating, and the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that "[f]ield preemption is not shown." Slip Op. at 16.

Third, the Court of Appeals' determination of no conflict preemption is uncontroversial where it concluded that "King Fuji does not demonstrate any respect in which a Washington employer is unable to provide accurate information about agricultural job opportunities to U.S. farmworkers at the same time it complies with federal law." Compare Slip. Op at 16-17 with Arizona, 567 U.S. at 399 (conflict preemption exists only in the rare instances where (1) "compliance with both state and federal regulation is a physical impossibility," or (2) the challenged state law "stands as an obstacle the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress") (internal citations omitted); Chicanos Por La Causa, Inc. v. Napolitano, 558 F.3d 856, 863 (9th Cir. 2009) ("For conflict preemption to apply, the conflict must be an actual conflict, not merely a hypothetical or potential conflict.").

King Fuji alleges two other bases for preemption, but the Court of Appeals properly rejected those arguments, too. As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, "[w]hen federal law expressly preempts some state legislation but not the state law at issue, an inference can be drawn that implied preemption is foreclosed." Petition for Review at 13; Slip. Op. at 14 (citing Freightliner Corp. v. Myrick, 514 U.S. 280, 289, 115 S. Ct. 1483, 131 L. Ed. 385 (1995)) (emphasis added). And "[t]he Garmon doctrine"—which King Fuji refers to as "arguably prohibited or protected" preemption—"is a special type of conflict preemption that only applies when a state law regulates issues covered by the National Labor Relations Act," which has nothing to do with the CPA investigation in this case. Petition for Review at 13; Slip. Op. at 12 n.7.

# 2. The Court of Appeals Applied Settled Precedent in Its Fourth Amendment Analysis

Applying this Court's long-standing three-part test under Steele v. State, 85 Wn.2d 585, 594, 537 P.2d 782 (1975), the

Court of Appeals likewise concluded that "[c]ontrolling case law defeats [King Fuji's] arguments" that the CID constitutes an unreasonable search under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Slip Op. at 17-19 (citing *Ameriquest Mortg*. *Co. v. Off. Of Att'y Gen.*, 177 Wn.2d 467, 498, 300 P.3d 799 (2013) (citing *Steele*, 85 Wn.2d at 594)).

As this Court held almost fifty years ago, a CID does not violate the Fourth Amendment, and a court will enforce it, where (1) the inquiry is "within the authority" of the Attorney General, (2) the demand is not be "too indefinite," and (3) the information and documents sought are "reasonably relevant" to the investigation. *Steele*, 85 Wn.2d at 594. Here, the CPA expressly authorizes the Attorney General to issues CIDs, *see* RCW 19.86.110(1); King Fuji did not claim that the CID's detailed requests were too indefinite; and the Court of Appeals properly concluded that the requests "appear reasonably calculated to identify what U.S. workers were told about job openings, whether it was accurate, and the employees and

applicants who would have relevant information." Slip Op. at 18-19. King Fuji does not dispute that the three-part test in *Steele* is controlling, but simply disputes the Court of Appeals' factual application of the test, which is not a basis for this Court's review. Petition for Review at 31-32

Where, as here, the Court of Appeals applied well-settled law governing the constitutional questions at issue, its decision does not raise "a significant constitutional question that warrants review" under RAP 13.4(b)(3). *In re Dependency of P.H.V.S.*, 184 Wn.2d 1017, 389 P.3d 460, 461 (2015) (finding that petitioner failed to raise "a significant constitutional question" that warranted review where Court of Appeals' decision was consistent with established due process standards under state and federal case law). The Court of Appeals' decision presents no significant question of federal constitutional law that merits further review.

# B. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by This Court

While the Attorney General agrees that judicial confirmation that agricultural employers like King Fuji must comply with the CPA is a matter of substantial public interest, Washington courts consistently have stated the constitutional factors that control whether a CID is reasonable and enforceable. See Steele, 85 Wn.2d at 593 (citing Okla. Press Publ'g Co. v. Walling, 327 U.S. 186, 204-06, 66 S. Ct. 494, 90 L. Ed. 614 (1946), and *United States v. Morton Salt Co.*, 338 U.S. 632, 652, 70 S. Ct. 357, 94 L. Ed. 401 (1950)); Ameriquest Mortg. Co., 177 Wn.2d at 498 (citing Steele, 85 Wn.2d at 594); State v. Brelvis Consulting LLC, 7 Wn. App. 2d 207, 230, 436 P.3d 818 (2018) (same). Because the Court of Appeals reiterated those principles in its published decision, if other businesses like King Fuji have questions about the Attorney General's CID enforcement authority, the decision provides further published case law

guidance. There is nothing further for this Court to determine in that regard.

Together, this body of law answers the first question King Fuji poses: "is there a limit to the AG's investigative authority under the Consumer Protection Act?" Petition for Review at 10. As to King Fuji's second, red herring question premised on its "AG's varying explanations" contention—"can the AG simply change the stated purpose of a Civil Investigative Demand after it is issued?"—the Attorney General issued just one CID, and the justification for it has never changed. See Petition for Review at 2; Section IV supra. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals has already answered the question: "In evaluating a party's positions in an appeal, we consider that party's good faith argument, not a 'straw man' argument foisted on the party by its adversary." Slip Op. at 11 (emphasis in original).

Finally, while in some cases "[a] decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if

review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue," that is not the case here. *In re Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, 413-414 (2016) (citing *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)). Despite King Fuji's straw man arguments, the Court of Appeals' decision is clear and authoritative, and there is no risk or prospect of unnecessary litigation and confusion on common issues ensuing in the absence of the Court's review here.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons above, the Court should deny King Fuji's petition for discretionary review so that the State may now enforce the CID against King Fuji without further delay.

This document contains 4,045 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17(b) and RAP 18.17(c)(10).